## UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-12-2015

# City of Sandpoint v. Independent Hwy. Dist. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 42517

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case

Several acronyms are utilized in this brief. These acronyms are set forth at the end of the Table of Cases and Authorities.

This appeal presents a request for a determination of the constitutionality and legality of a JPA and an MOU entered into between the City and IHD. The City filed a request for an injunction and declaratory relief seeking a declaration from the trial court that the JPA and MOU were valid and enforceable. R. pp. 19-47. The agreements followed extended litigation between the parties and were contemplated during execution by the governing bodies to resolve litigation between the entities regarding jurisdiction, operation, and maintenance of streets located within the City's boundaries. *Id.* 

The 2003 JPA by its terms purported to be perpetual and required IHD to pay to the City all IHD ad valorem taxes collected from properties within City boundaries. R. pp. 37-42. A related Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU") was executed September 14, 2005, surrendering IHD's jurisdiction of highway districts streets within City boundaries to the City. R. pp. 43-44. IHD repeatedly attempted to renegotiate the JPA with the City. R. p. 233. The City declined negotiation and sued seeking a declaration of the parties' rights under the JPA and MOU after IHD notified the City it would no longer voluntarily pay over tax revenues under the JPA because IHD's Board believed the JPA was illegal. R. pp. 45-47.

#### B. Course of Proceedings Below

The City filed its Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief on August 16, 2013. R. p. 19. IHD moved to dismiss the City's Complaint on September 9, 2013, asserting that the JPA was void and unenforceable. R. pp. 49-51; 56-72. IHD contended that an agreement entered into by an Idaho political subdivision which created a multi-year indebtedness or liability violated Art. VIII, § 3 of the Idaho Constitution and the Idaho Joint Powers Act. R. pp. 56-72.

On December 9, 2013, the district court issued its memorandum opinion which denied the motion to dismiss. R. pp. 154-175. The district court concluded that the JPA created a multiyear liability, but the liability was lawful. R. p. 163. The district court declined to decide if the JPA violated public policy, noting it presented a question of fact. R. p. 169.

Following the decision, the parties stipulated to a reciprocal preliminary injunction which allowed IHD to make payments to the City of ad valorem taxes without such payments being deemed voluntary payments. R. pp. 176-178. Based upon the stipulation, the district court entered a Reciprocal Preliminary Injunction Order on December 16, 2013. R. pp. 179-181. The district court granted a Rule 12 permissive appeal which this Court declined. R. pp. 194-195; 272.

The City moved for summary judgment which was scheduled for hearing on July 22, 2014. R. pp. 187-193. The court granted the City's summary judgment motion by decision dated July 31, 2014. R. pp. 273-290. The trial court incorporated by reference into the SJ Decision it's analysis from the memorandum denying the motion to dismiss. R. p. 278. The district court entered an order granting declaratory relief on July 31, 2014. R. pp. 291-295.

2

On July 31, 2014, the district court entered the City's proposed judgment. R. pp. 291-295. On August 13, 2015, the City filed its memorandum of costs and supporting affidavit seeking costs and attorney fees. R. pp. 298-334. On August 21, 2014, eight days after the City filed its memorandum of costs, the trial court entered its order granting the request for attorney fees and costs. R. pp. 335-337. At the same time, the district court entered the City's proposed Declaratory and Monetary Judgment which included attorney fees as costs. R. pp. 338-341.

On August 22, 2014, one day after the entry of the judgment, the district court entered an amended order granting the City's request for attorney fees and costs. R. pp. 342-344. The trial court also entered an amended declaratory and monetary judgment. R. pp. 345-349.

On August 27, 2014, five days after the entry of judgment, IHD filed its objection to the memorandum of costs. R. pp. 353-354. IHD's objection was supported by a memorandum and affidavits. R. pp. 355-369; AR Affidavit of Douglas S. Marfice filed September 8, 2014.<sup>1</sup> On August 27, 2014, IHD also filed its motion for reconsideration of the district court's entry of the attorney fee judgment because the order was entered before consideration of IHD's timely objection. R. pp. 350-352. On October 24, 2014, the district court ruled on the motion to reconsider. AR Memorandum Decision and Order Granting in Part (As to timing of this Court's Prior Decision) and Denying in Part (As to Amount of Attorney Fees) filed October 24, 2014.

Although it appeared the judgments entered by the district court did not comply with Rule 54, I.R.C.P, out of an abundance of caution, IHD filed a notice of appeal on September 4,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> AR in this brief stands for "Augmented Record". Two augmented records were filed in this matter by IHD.

2014. R. pp. 370-373. On September 23, 2014, this Court conditionally dismissed the appeal because the order did not comply with Rule 54, I.R.C.P. R. p. 377. On October 17, 2014, IHD filed a response to the conditional dismissal, indicating a hearing was scheduled for October 23, 2014 with the district court to bring the matter of the judgment's compliance with I.R.C.P. 54(a) to the district court's attention. R. pp. 378-379. The trial court's decision on reconsideration filed October 24, 2014 did not address the non-compliance issue. *Id.* On October 28, 2014, IHD filed a notice of hearing regarding a motion for presentment of judgment. AR Notice of Hearing RE: Defendant's Motion for Presentment of Judgment filed October 28, 2014. On November 14, 2014, prior to the presentment hearing, the trial court entered a second amended declaratory and monetary judgment. R. pp. 381-384. On November 24, 2014, the trial court entered a final judgment. R. pp. 385-387.

On December 8, 2014, IHD moved to alter or amend the judgment, and a memorandum and an amended memorandum to support its motion to alter or amend the judgment. AR Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment filed December 8, 2014; Memorandum in Support of Defendant's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment filed December 8, 2014; and Amended Memorandum in Support of Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment filed December 8, 2014. On December 30, 2014, the City filed its response, together with a supporting declaration. AR City of Sandpoint's Response to Defendant's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment filed December 30, 2015; AR Declaration of C. Matthew Andersen filed December 30, 2014.

On February 4, 2015, IHD filed a notice of hearing on its motion to alter or amend the judgment. AR Notice of Hearing re: Defendant's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment filed

February 4, 2015. On March 26, 2015, IHD filed a second amended notice of hearing of the motion to alter or amend the judgment. AR Second Amended Notice of Hearing re: Independent Highway District's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment filed March 26, 2015. A reply memorandum in support of the motion to alter or amend the judgment was filed April 2, 2015. AR Reply Memorandum in support of Defendant's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment filed April 2, 2015. On April 10, 2015, the trial court filed its order denying the motion to alter or amend the judgment. R. p. 388-390.

#### C. Statement of Facts

The JPA was entered between the City and IHD in 2003 to resolve then pending litigation between the entities. R. pp. 37-41. The JPA provided IHD would "pay over to the City all property tax funds from such District levies on all property located within the city limits." R. p. 39. The JPA acknowledged that IHD had the powers provided by Idaho Code section 40-1310, and purported to transfer IHD's jurisdiction to the City over IHD streets located within the City. R. p. 37.

By its term, the JPA indicates it is perpetual. "The duration of this agreement <u>shall be</u> <u>perpetual</u> or until such time as the District and the City jointly and together agree to amend or terminate the same." (Emphasis added.) R. p. 37. The JPA contains no provision for IHD to terminate, modify, or renegotiate the agreement. In 2005, an MOU was entered which supplemented the terms JPA and delegated to the City IHD's jurisdiction to conduct street vacations and hold public hearings to vacate IHD streets located within the City. R. p. 43-44.

5

None of the current IHD elected Commissioners signed the JPA. R. p. 41. The 2013 IHD Board of Commissioners made numerous requests to the City to renegotiate the JPA. Affidavit of Marj Tilley. R. p. 233. The City declined or failed to respond to IHD's requests to negotiate. R. p. 241. On July 11, 2013, IHD notified the City it believed the JPA was illegal and made an offer to resolve outstanding differences. R. pp. 45-46. After receiving no response from the City, on July 25, 2013, IHD notified the City it elected to terminate the illegal JPA. R. p. 47. Rather than responding to IHD's request for negotiation and offer of settlement, the City sued IHD, claiming breach of contract; seeking a declaration of the City's rights; and for preliminary and permanent injunction, which lawsuit is the subject of this appeal.

IHD responded to the suit by seeking a dismissal and ruling that the JPA was unconstitutional and violated certain provisions of Idaho statute. R. pp. 49-53; 56-72. Once the trial court denied the motion to dismiss, the City sought summary judgment on all issues. R. pp. 187-193. Notwithstanding the clear holdings from this Court, the trial court issued a summary judgment holding that the JPA complies with Art. VIII, § 3 based upon six conclusions: 1) The JPA creates no indebtedness or a liability in violation of Art. VIII, § 3; 2) Art. VIII, § 3 does not apply to agreements entered into between two political subdivisions; 3) The JPA is legal because it does not obligate IHD general revenues; 4) Art. VIII, § 3 applies only to the purchase of systems and goods; 5) the JPA is legitimized by the special funds doctrine; and 6) the JPA follows the Idaho Joint Powers Act. R. pp. 154-175. The trial court also issued a monetary judgment which is the subject of this appeal. R. pp. 385-387.

6

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

A. Did the trial court err in holding that the Joint Powers Agreement complies with Article VIII, § 3 of the Idaho Constitution?

B. Did the trial court err in holding the Joint Powers Agreement complies with the Idaho Joint Powers Act, Idaho Code § 67-2326, *et seq*.?

C. Did the trial court err in its declaration of the City's rights under the JPA and the MOU?

D. Did the trial court err in awarding damages to the City for breach of contract?

E. Did the trial court err in holding that the JPA references to "taxes" included penalties and interest?

F. Did the trial court err in the form of the permanent injunction it issued?

G. Did the trial court err in its award of attorney fees?

H. Should a new trial judge be assigned on remand?

#### III. STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL

When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, this Court's standard of review is the same as that of the district court in ruling upon the motion. *Purvis v. Progressive Cas. Ins. Co.,* 142 Idaho 213, 215, 127 P.3d 116, 118 (2005); citing, *Thomson v. City of Lewiston,* 137 Idaho 473, 475-76, 150 P.3d 488, 490-91 (2002). Therefore, this Court reviews the record before the district court, including the pleadings, depositions, admissions and affidavits, if any, to determine *de novo* whether, after construing the facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, there exist any genuine issues of material fact and whether the successful movant below was

entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.; citing, Tusch Enterprises v. Coffin,* 113 Idaho 37, 740 P.2d 1022 (1987); and I.R.C.P. 56(c).

"This Court defers to the factual findings of the district court unless those findings are clearly erroneous. This Court exercises free review of the district court's application of the relevant law to the facts. Constitutional issues are questions of law over which we also exercise free review." *City of Idaho Falls v. Fuhriman,* 149 Idaho 574, 576, 237 P.3d 1200, 1202 (2010) (quoting *City of Boise v. Frazier,* 143 Idaho 1, 2, 137 P.3d 388, 389 (2006))." *City of Challis v. Consent of the Governed Caucus,* 2015 WL 5667481, p. 2 (2015).

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

# A. The trial court erred in holding that the Joint Powers Agreement complies with Article VIII, § 3 of the Idaho Constitution.

#### 1. Introduction

The Idaho Constitution strictly prohibits Idaho political subdivisions from incurring multi-year indebtedness or liability without a two-thirds vote of the qualified electors. Indeed, Idaho's constitutional prohibition against incurring multi-year obligations by Idaho's local governments is one of the most restrictive of all the states. Art. VIII, § 3, provides:

No ...[political] subdivision of the state, shall incur any <u>indebtedness</u>, or <u>liability</u>, <u>in any manner</u>, or for any purpose, exceeding in that year the income and revenue provided for it in such year, without the assent of two thirds (2/3) of the qualified electors... Any indebtedness or liability incurred contrary to this provision <u>shall</u> <u>be void</u>. (Emphasis added).

This Court has repeatedly interpreted "that year" and "such year" to mean the year in which the obligation was incurred.

The disputed 2003 JPA was entered without a vote of the qualified IHD electors. Because the JPA created a multi-year indebtedness or liability exceeding 2003 IHD revenue, the JPA is void and unenforceable.

Highway districts may levy ad valorem taxes. Pursuant to Idaho Code section 40-801, highway district property tax revenue collected from properties located within a city is distributed by the county treasurer fifty percent (50%) to the highway district and fifty percent (50%) to the city.<sup>2</sup> The disputed JPA requires IHD to distribute to the City 100% of the tax revenues generated by IHD property tax levy from properties located within the City. R. p. 39. This distribution contradicts Idaho Code section 40-801 and is unique among cities and highway districts in the state of Idaho.

The trial court held that the City is entitled to perpetually receive IHD's share of the property tax revenues from IHD levy in addition to the City's share. R. p. 168. The court recognized the JPA obligation was a multi-year liability. R. p. 163. However, the court wrongly held the multi-year JPA liability complies with Art. VIII, § 3 based on the reasoning that in no future year will IHD's obligation exceed its total revenue received for that future year. R. p. 163. On appeal, IHD contends the JPA is unconstitutional in violation of the Art. VIII, § 3 prohibition against multi-year indebtedness or liability.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Idaho Code § 40-801 provides: "...the commissioners of highway districts are empowered, for the purpose of construction and maintenance of highways and bridges under their respective jurisdictions, to make the following highway ad valorem tax levies as applied to the market value for assessment purposes within their districts: (a) Two-tenths per cent (0.2%) of market value for assessment purposes for construction and maintenance of highways and bridges ; provided that if the levy is made upon property within the limits of any incorporated city, fifty per cent (50%) of the funds shall be apportioned to that incorporated city."

#### 2. The JPA obligation is an indebtedness or liability

The trial court correctly concluded that: "Because IHD has obligated itself to pay a

percentage of the annual revenue it collected on ad valorem taxes, it did incur a liability. R. p.

163.

The definitions of "indebtedness" and "liability" for Art. VIII, § 3, have been analyzed as

follows:

The Idaho Supreme Court has defined "debt" or "indebtedness," within the meaning of Art. 8, §3, as an obligation, incurred by the state or municipality, which creates a legal duty on its part to pay from its general funds a sum of money to another, who occupies the position of a creditor, and who has a lawful right to demand payment. "Liability," however, has been given a broader and more comprehensive definition than "indebtedness," and refers to all kinds and character of debts and obligations for which a municipality may become bound in law or justice to perform." This broad, sweeping definition of "liability" was the basis of Idaho's unique doctrine of constitutional debt limitation, commencing with the leading case of *Feil v. City of Coeur d'Alene*, one of the landmark decisions in the law of municipal debt limitation. (Footnotes omitted).

17 Idaho L. Rev. 55 (1980), p. 59. Constitutional Debt Limitations on Local Government in Idaho – Article 8, Section 3, Idaho Constitution, Michael C. Moore.

[W]hat constitutes an "indebtedness or liability" has been a recurring subject of litigation over the century since the adoption of the Idaho Constitution. In the early case of *Feil v. City of Coeur d'Alene*, the Idaho Supreme Court adopted a far more restrictive view of this term than did the courts of most other states, holding that the vote approval requirement of article VIII, section 3, applied not only to general obligation debt payable from property taxes, but also to indebtedness payable solely from the revenues of revenue-producing public works. The *Feil* court rejected the so-called "special fund" doctrine recognized as an exception to constitution debt limitation provision in the great majority of jurisdictions. Although the Idaho Supreme Court has recognized that some types of obligations do not constitute "indebtedness or liability" within the meaning of the constitution provision, and has also held that the limitation does not apply to certain types of entities, it has never retreated from the holding in *Feil* because special revenue

debt is an "indebtedness or liability" within the remaining of article VIII, section 3 of Idaho's constitution. (Footnotes omitted).

31 Idaho L. Rev. 417 (1995), p. 455. *Idaho Constitution and Local Governments – Selected Topics*, Michael C. Moore.

It remains a safe legal proposition that in Idaho, a local government debt or liability extending <u>beyond the current year's revenues</u>, whether in general obligation or a special revenue obligation, requires voter approval, unless it is "ordinary and necessary" or qualifies for one of the other limited exceptions recognized by the court.

Id., p. 456. (Emphasis added).

Idaho Water Resource Board v. Kramer, 97 Idaho 535, 548 P.2d 35 (1978) sheds further

light on the definitions of indebtedness and liability for obligations created by the state under Art.

VIII, § 1 of the Idaho Constitution; a similar provision to Art. VIII, § 3 applicable to state agencies:

[A] 'debt' refers to an obligation incurred by the state, which creates a legal duty on its part to pay from the general fund a sum of money to another, who occupies the position of a creditor, and who has a lawful right to demand payment. It contemplates an obligation which is irrevocable and requires for its satisfaction levies beyond the appropriations provided by the Legislature to meet the ordinary expenses of state government for the fiscal year. 'Liability' as used within our constitution, has been afforded a broader and more comprehensive definition. It refers to an obligation one is bound in law or justice to perform.

*Kramer*, 97 Idaho 535, 556, 584 P.2d 35, 56 (1978) (emphasis added).

The JPA created both an indebtedness and a liability. The JPA created a legal duty for IHD to pay its ad valorem funds over to the City. The City is in the position of a creditor who may demand payment from IHD, i.e., an indebtedness. The City claims in its Complaint that IHD is bound in law or justice to make multi-year payments to the City, i.e., a liability. The Art. VIII, § 3 case just decided by this Court, *Greater Boise Auditorium District v*. *Frazier*, 2015 WL 6080521 (October 15, 2015) ("*GBAD*"), confirms at p. 8 the breadth of the liability definition. "[T]he term 'liability' is a much more sweeping and comprehensive term than the word 'indebtedness'", quoting from *Charles Feil v. City of Coeur d'Alene* 23 Idaho 32, 49, 129 P. 43, 649 (1912).

#### 3. The JPA obligation is an illegal multi-year obligation

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