Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-14-2005

City of Sandpoint v. Independent Highway District Respondent's Brief 1 Dckt. 42517

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

3. Argument.

There shall be a system of state highways in the state, a system of county highways in each county, a system of highways in each highway district, and a system of highways in each city, except as otherwise provided. The improvement of highways and highway systems is hereby declared to be the established and permanent policy of the state of Idaho, and the duty is hereby imposed upon the state, and all counties, cities, and highway districts in the state, to improve

⁴ Not significant to resolution of the case, but contrary to IHD's continual assertion that it repeatedly requested termination of the JPA, the record is clear that the IHD Commissioners "elected to terminate" the JPA only after the City's attorney contacted counsel for IHD after the cessation of payments. (R. p. 47)

and maintain the highways within their respective jurisdiction as hereinafter defined, within the limits of the funds available.

I.C. §40-201 (Emphasis added)

This case involves a contract reached in settlement for the faithful performance of a joint statutory duty imposed upon both the City and IHD to improve and maintain roads. Any IHD inference that its mandate or duty has been impaired by entering into a statutorily approved agreement to more effectively deliver highway services to the citizens of Bonner County is misplaced. IHD knows its boundaries and overall supervisory role over streets cannot be lost except upon dissolution, as this Court ruled in <u>Sandpoint I and II</u>. To avoid dissolution, IHD determined it was willing to permit the day-to-day road and highway responsibilities could vest with the City, and the means to provide the necessary funds was agreed upon. There is nothing untoward or conceptually impure in the agreement embodied in the core documents between the City and IHD.

On appeal, IHD offers a parsed scattershot reading of the core documents that apparently argues the core agreements were unconstitutional and thus void, resulted in an invalid loss of IHD "jurisdiction," are invalid under the Joint Powers Act, and should not have included a declaration that interest and penalties were to be remitted under the JPA. All of these conclusions are incorrect. The core documents are to be interpreted based first and foremost on the language used in the four corners of the documents, they are to be read together, and the court is to construe them as a matter of law when not ambiguous. See, State v. Acuna, 154 Idaho 139, 141, 294 P.3d 1151 (Ct. App. 2013); Charpentier v. Welch, 74 Idaho 242, 246-47, 259 P.2d

814 (1953). Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. of Idaho v. Eisenman, 153 Idaho 549, 286 P.3d 185 (Idaho 2012) (an unambiguous contract must be construed as a matter of law). The court also construes constitutional and statutory provisions as a matter of law. See, Idaho Department of Health & Welfare v. McCormick, 153 Idaho 468, 470, 283 P.3d 785 (2012); Thus, this court will reach the same conclusion on review as did the court below: The JPA did not violate the Constitution, the JPA was not illegal or void, and no issues of fact existed to preclude summary judgment on the declaratory relief requested.

Moreover, IHD argues that the form of injunction was improper, and attorney fees improperly granted, both rulings of which are only reviewed for a manifest abuse of discretion, on which the appellant bears the burden of proof. <u>Brady v. City of Homedale</u>, 130 Idaho 569, 572, 944 P.2d 704 (1997); <u>Mihalka v. Shepherd</u>, 145 Idaho 547, 549, 181 P.3d 473 (2008).

3.1 The Joint Powers Agreement is constitutional, and the parties are entitled to provide for apportionment of taxes pursuant to that JPA.

The unsupported claim that the JPA is unconstitutional under Art. VIII §3 ignores the circumstances under which it was executed, the consideration given for it, and the ultimate court approval at inception. The JPA is a contract executed as part of a stipulated settlement to end litigation between the parties after 20 years of conflict over the maintenance of streets within the City of Sandpoint. (See, Sandpoint I, Sandpoint II and Sandpoint III) If the JPA "is unique" in Idaho between a municipality and IHD, it is not because it is an unenforceable debt or liability, but because it is a settlement reached as a result of decades of litigation. Settling litigation of necessity requires finality, and an agreement the parties must stand by and be bound to in order

to permanently resolve the disputes; settlement of litigation is an "obviously" favored public policy. <u>Lomas & Nettleton Co. v. Tiger Enterprises, Inc.</u>, 99 Idaho 539, 542, 585 P.2d 949 (1978) (agreements accomplishing this result will be disregarded "only for the strongest of reasons"). Simply because IHD is bound to continue to perform under the Settlement Agreement into the future does not render such settlement unconstitutional.

In fact, Idaho courts have routinely recognized governmental agencies' abilities to settle lawsuits, even in those circumstances which require states to perform monetary obligations long into the future. <u>See e.g., Jeff D. v. Andrus</u>, 899 F.2d 753 (9th Cir. 1990) (state compromised class action requiring mental health service be provided to class of juveniles; settlement agreement reached in 1983 enforced as to all persons entitled to services in perpetuity). Such settlements do not create unconstitutional "debts or liabilities," although under IHD's reasoning, virtually any future commitment would be so defined.

In ignoring the context of settlement, IHD inaccurately states the purpose and terms of the JPA. It then basically misstates the court's ruling on summary judgment, asserting it was based on six conclusions, each which require reversal. <u>See</u>, IHD's Brief, p. 6. However, as is noted in the following response, IHD has inaccurately portrays the court's decision and relevant law concerning the JPA.

a. The Joint Powers Agreement did not create a "multi-year" "indebtedness or liability" subject to Constitutional prohibition.

This case does not involve a debt or liability prohibited by Art. VIII §3 of the Idaho Constitution. This case is about how IHD has agreed to "divide" the funds it statutorily has available annually to meet its statutory duty to maintain the streets within its boundaries.

While IHD emphasizes the District Court's statement that the JPA indeed created a "liability," because that term is more loosely defined, Art. VIII §3 prohibits "indebtedness, or liability...exceeding in that year the income and revenue provided for it in such year." The undisputed facts establish that the JPA did not create a debt or liability which exceeded the levy which IHD makes in each year, and the constitutional provision does not apply, even were the court to term the JPA a "liability." There is no need to separate the analysis of debt/liability from the concept of exceeding revenue for a given year, because only those debts and liabilities that exceed a year's revenue fall within the constitutional prohibition. It is undisputed the JPA created no debt or liability which exceeded the yearly revenues of IHD's levy. No more or less has to be allocated to the City than that actually collected from City residents.

IHD has the power to levy a tax. I.C. \$40-801(a). If that levy is made upon property within the limits of any incorporated city, 50% of the funds are automatically apportioned to that incorporated city. IHD has no control over those funds. <u>Id</u>. By agreement, IHD has limited its exposure to the City roads to the balance of the revenue collected. The levy is a burden on all the taxpayers residing in IHD. The levy amount can freely change as circumstances change. The amount can be up, or it can go down. (Aff. of S. Syth, ¶6, R. p. 107) This case is not about

a fixed amount IHD must pay annually in perpetuity. This case is about dividing an annual pot of money and who is going to write the check from that pot of money to fix the roads in Sandpoint, Idaho. The parties agreed in the 2003 how the revenue would be **allocated** to maintain the streets of Sandpoint. The amount allocated to the City is not contingent upon receiving appropriations from the legislative process as contemplated by the Idaho Constitution when referencing indebtedness.⁵ The amount paid can never exceed the amount collected.

Thus, the purpose of the constitutional provision is simply not implicated by the JPA. Article VIII §3 of the Idaho Constitution prohibits municipal governments, including cities and other subdivisions of the state, from incurring indebtedness or liability exceeding that year's revenues without a two-thirds approval by the voters. The purpose of the section is "to prevent local government entities from incurring debts without approval from the voters and a clear plan to retire those debts." <u>City of Boise v. Frazier</u>, 143 Idaho 1, 3, 137 P.3d 388 (2006); <u>Taxpayers for Improving Pub. Safety v. Schwarzenegger</u>, 91 Cal. Rptr. 3d 370, 377 (2009). Idaho's limitation on indebtedness was modeled after California's constitution. <u>Frazier</u>, 143 Idaho at 3. California courts have declared that the provision is intended "to prohibit the accumulation of public debt without the consent of the taxpayers, and require governmental agencies to carry on their operations on a cash basis." <u>In re S. Humboldt Cmty. Healthcare Dist.</u>, 254 B.R. 758, 760 (Bankr. N.D. Cal. 2000).

⁵ If IHD contends that the JPA creates an ongoing indebtedness by virtue of regular division of its revenue given to the City, it must similarly contend that I.C. §40-801, which requires a 50% remittance to the City, is an unconstitutional "debt". IHD has not, and indeed cannot, demonstrate the unconstitutionality of I.C. §40-801 while using the statute to buttress its argument against the validity of the JPA.

The Idaho Supreme Court declared long ago that a municipality does not violate the constitutional prohibition on indebtedness when it pays expenses out of the revenue for that year. <u>Ball v. Bannock County</u>, 5 Idaho 602, 51 P. 454 (1897). Here, IHD's disbursement to the City pursuant to the JPA are limited to a portion of that year's revenues, as no disbursement will ever require funds beyond what IHD has already collected. This is in accord with the concept that "'[a] sum payable upon a contingency is not a debt, nor does it become a debt until the contingency happens.'" <u>In re Quantification Settlement Agreement Cases</u>, 201 Cal. App. 4th 758, 807, <u>cert. denied</u>, 133 S. Ct. 312 (U.S. 2012) (quoting <u>Doland v. Clark</u>, 143 Cal. 176, 181, 76 P. 958 (1904)). In <u>In re Quantification Settlement Agreement Cases</u>, the court determined that "the state's commitment in the Joint Powers Agreement to pay the excess mitigation costs does not violate Section 1, Article XVI of the California Constitution because the state's commitment is contingent on there being excess mitigation costs, and a contingent obligation does not qualify as a 'debt' or **'liability'** within the meaning of" California's constitutional limit on debt. 201 Cal.App. 4th at 807. (Emphasis added)

Similarly, this case deals only with periodic disbursements from IHD to fulfill its statutory duty to maintain City roads, as the funds are received. Construction and maintenance of roads by statute is the only reason IHD has the power to levy taxes. By its terms, the JPA simply requires IHD to "forward to the City all tax revenues received by IHD collected from properties within the [c]ity..." (R. p. 39) Conversely, a debt is "an 'unconditional promise to pay a fixed sum at some specified time, and is quite different from a contract to be performed in

the future, depending upon a condition precedent, which may never be performed, and which cannot ripen into a debt until performed." 15 McQuillin <u>Mun</u>. <u>Corp</u>. §41:17 (3d ed.).

Merely incurring a future allocation of funds as collected does not create an indebtedness. A contract to pay a fixed price annually, where contingent on the supply furnished, does not create an indebtedness. 15 McQuillin <u>Mun. Corp.</u> §41:22 (2013). For example, "If an obligation is payable out of a special fund only, and the municipality is not otherwise liable, it is generally held that there is no indebtedness." 15 McQuillin <u>Mun. Corp.</u> §41:30 (3d ed.) (citing <u>U.S. v.</u> <u>City of Charleston</u>, 149 F. Supp. 866 (S.D.W.Va. 1957); <u>Law Offices of Cary L. Lapidus v. City of Wasco</u>, 8 Cal. Rptr. 3d 680 (2004). Specifically, moneys to be paid out of the existence of a future potential contingent fund, and not from general city funds, are not considered debt or a future liability, and not prohibited by the Constitution. McQuillin, <u>id</u>. at 1368. <u>See also</u>, <u>Homebuilders Assoc. v. Kansas City</u>, 431 S.W.2d 111 (Mo. 1968) (contract for reimbursement from revenues derived from water main extension were not unconstitutional "debts").

In this case, IHD's disbursement to the City is akin to a potential contingent fund, as IHD is not otherwise liable to pay City any fixed amount at any point; IHD's disbursement amount is entirely conditioned by its collection of taxes on properties within the city. Truly, if IHD elected to have no levy for a tax year, there would be no obligation to pay. It is impossible to convert an agreed allocation of the use of funds, when and if collected as an obligation to pay a sum certain. (As shown by the Affidavit of Ms. Syth, in fact the amount varies each year. (R. pp. 107-108)) As in Lapidus, IHD's promise to disburse tax revenues to the City does not "place a charge upon the general funds of the City, nor create a situation in which future taxpayers might be strapped

with obligations incurred by a prior administration without the ability to meet those obligations or the necessary voter approval." <u>Id</u>. (citations omitted). Taxes levied on property within a city are generally not part of its indebtedness. 15 McQuillin <u>Mun</u>. <u>Corp</u>. §41:17. The JPA is simply what the stipulation states it is; an agreement on the division of revenue. That is not a debt or liability of a sum certain.

Apparently recognizing that there has been no "debt" created beyond the revenue years, IHD now asserts that the inclusion of the term "liability" in Art. VIII §3 means that **any** "obligation" to pay the funds, if levied and collected in the future, violates the Constitution. However, neither the cases cited by IHD nor the undisputed facts here establish such a result.

IHD's analysis starts with the false premise that the JPA creates a legal duty by IHD to levy taxes, which it then must pay over to the City as a future creditor who can "demand payment." IHD asserts that the "obligation" to pay over future years' revenue thus becomes a "liability" prohibited by the Constitution. In reality, the JPA does not require IHD to levy one cent in tax; because the JPA does not obligate IHD to levy, it creates no rights by the City to demand or enforce a tax levy. Rather, to meet its mandate to create and maintain a system of roads and highways, IHD has the authority and obligation to impose a levy. I.C. §40-201 The JPA only establishes a division of IHD's tax revenues once received. The District Court properly analyzed the JPA as creating no "liability" which exceeds the years' revenues.

While IHD claims no authority supports the analysis that IHD will never pay over more than it collects to preclude application of Art. VIII §3, in fact, the City, as outlined above, provided the court with persuasive authority from a variety of sources that properly analyzes

exactly this type of JPA. The "liability" does not bind IHD to pay funds greater than its capacity to pay in the first year; IHD is "liable" only if it assess taxes, and the JPA creates no obligation to pay into the future without the funds in that year to pay. Contrary to IHD's assertion, IHD's former Board did not obligate "itself to perpetually levy real property taxes and pay the revenues from such levy to the City." (See, Appellant's Brief, p. 19) Nothing in the JPA obligates IHD to so levy, and thus does not create a liability which may or may not be payable by future revenue. This is the fact that renders all of the cases cited by IHD inapplicable and irrelevant to the issues at hand. IHD details several Idaho cases at length, but they are limited to their facts, and none establish that the District Court incorrectly analyzed the Idaho constitutional prohibition on "multi-year debt." In Williams v. City of Emmett, 51 Idaho 500, 6 P.2d 475 (1931), quoted at length by IHD, the City of Emmett entered into a contract for a "rent to own" sprinkler system arrangement in which it committed to pay a fixed sum per year. While the City argued the sums to be paid were from special assessments of local improvement districts, the court noted such district had not yet been formed, and moreover, the City could not "pledge the revenues" from this future source because the City was contracting for the payments and created indebtedness into the future.

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